ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

OCT 08 2014

SC COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARON DUANE DAVIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213571

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

JUSTIN M. KATA
The Giese Law Firm, LLC
1315 Blanding Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 708-6767

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant the directed verdict motion to the Defendant?
- II. Did the trial judge err in failing to charge the jury with a mere presence instruction?
- III. Did the trial judge err in allowing jury to view the photographs of the victim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March of 2012, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Davis for homicide by child abuse, indictment #2012-GS-23-1479. On December 3, 2012, Davis proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. Attorneys John Mauldin and Evelyn Mitchell represented Davis at trial. Attorneys Christy K. Sustakovitch and Leigh B. Poaletti prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. On December 6, 2012, the jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Miller sentenced Davis to life in prison without parole. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on December 11, 2012. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. BACKGROUND

Daron Davis and Shalita Dawkins began dating in February of 2009. (R. p. 126, line 13). They lived in separate residences. (R. p. 127, lines 17-19). Shalita Dawkins had two children when she began dating Daron. (R. p. 163, lines 15-20). Both of these children referred to Daron as "dad." (R. p. 164, lines 7-10). In November of 2009, Shalita became pregnant with the victim. (R. p. 128, lines 10-11). The victim was born on August 20, 2010 (R. p. 130, line 15) and shortly thereafter, Daron moved into the Shalita's home to help care for all three children. (R. p. 130, lines 16-19). Daron was out of work so he stayed home with the children while Shalita was at work. (R. p. 394, 430, 447).

Dr. Lynn Smith, the victim's pediatrician testified that the victim required no special care after she was born. (R. p. 87, lines 5-7). The victim's last doctor's visit was her two-month well visit in which Daron attended. (R. p. 89, lines 13-18). During this October 21, 2010 visit, Daron reported that the victim was very stuffy and congested and had some funny-sounding breathing noises. (R. p. 89, lines 21-22; p. 92, lines 16-20). According to the pediatrician, this was just routine newborn, one, two-month old baby nasal congestion and nothing was prescribed to the child. (R. p. 90, line 25 – p. 91, line 8).

On January 18, 2011, Shalita got up around 10:00 am and went to the store accompanied by Daron, her youngest son, and the victim. (R. p. 136, lines 6-20). Ms. Dawkins testified that the victim's demeanor was happy and her usual self (R. p. 136, lines 23-25). Shalita Dawkins left for work at 2:15 pm (R. p. 141, lines 12-15). Daron stayed home with the children and put them all to bed before Shalita returned in between 12:20 am and 12:40am (R. p. 143, lines 9-17; p. 178, lines 6-10). The victim's bassinet is maybe one and one half feet from the parents' bed. (R. p. 135, lines 21-

25). Before the two retired to bed for the evening, they had some verbal exchanges in the bedroom. (R. p. 144, lines 23-25). Shalita testified that she remembers the victim seeming as though she was acknowledging her voice by making a little baby sound. (R. p. 145, lines 1-3). At no point did Shalita check on the victim in her bassinet. (R. p. 145, lines 10-18). Daron was lying in bed when Shalita went to sleep around 2:00 am. (R. p. 146, line 20 – p. 147, line 1).

Around 7:00 am the next morning, Shalita remembers Daron telling her that he was going to take Shalita's eldest son to the bus stop and then drive to the store to pick up some Black and Milds. (R. p. 147, lines 8-18). She then looked out the window and saw the car at the stop sign. (R. p. 147, 22-23). Shalita testified that when he came back from the bus stop, Daron woke her up by turning on the light and then making noises in the shower. (R. p. 148, lines 14-20; R. p. 181, lines 10-19) Shalita fussed at Daron because he was an adult and he should know better not to turn on the light. (R. p. 181, 7-19). Daron fed the victim a bottle and then held her in the bed with him. (R. p. 419). About thirty minutes later, Daron wakes Shalita up to tell her that the baby was not breathing right. (R. p. 149, lines 15-18). Shortly after 8:15 am, Shalita calls Pediatric Associates of Greer and describes the victim as having congested breathing. (R. p. 33, lines 2-3). Daron, Shalita, and the victim head to the doctor's office. (R. p. 150, lines 12-18). Upon arrival at the pediatrician's office, the victim is examined by Dr. Susan Shelley. (R. p. 32, lines 21-24). Dr. Shelley realizes that the victim was not breathing but did have a pulse. (R. p. 34, lines 12-17). Within two minutes, EMS arrived to take the victim to the hospital. (R. p. 36, lines 20-22). Dr. Shelley also testified that the victim did not have any visible injuries. (R. p. 47, lines 4-7). Shalita testified that from the time that she got home at 12:40 am until the child was taken and put into the EMS unit at the Pediatric Associates office, she was in the baby's presence 100 percent of the time. (R. p. 178, lines 6-10).

Once Daron and Shalita arrived at the hospital, the victim is already on a ventilator. (R. p. 154, lines 15-16). Daron and Shalita were holding hands. (R. p. 154, lines 16-19). Upon hearing of the extensive injuries to the victim, Shalita testified that Daron seemed shocked like she was. (R. p. 157, lines 5-9). Shalita further testified that she heard what the doctor was telling her about her daughter but did not understand why her daughter "looked fine." (R. p. 158, lines 8-9). After the meeting with the doctor describing the injuries sustained by the child, Daron began to yell and was asked to leave the hospital by security around 11:40 am. (R. p. 178, line 20 – p. 179, line 16). From 11:48 am to 5:53 pm that afternoon, Daron called Shalita eight times to check on the child and Shalita did not take those calls. (R. p. 179, lines 17-22). The victim passed away when she was taken on life support on January 23, 2011. (R. p. 160, lines 2-16).

On January 19, 2011, a search warrant was executed on Shalita and Daron's home. (R. p. 106, line 1 – p. 107, line 25). The only things taken from the property were photos of the residence. (R. p. 108, lines 4-6). Sergeant Shaw testified that he visited the home and examined the hardwood floors in every area looking for anything that might indicate that something had happened in any of those rooms. (R. p. 54, lines 15-19). He found no physical evidence of any foul play in the home. (R. p. 52, lines 23-25; p. 54, lines 1-21).

II. DR. JAMES FULCHER'S TESTIMONY

On January 25, 2011, Dr. James Fulcher performed an autopsy on the victim. (R. p. 61, line 23). He testified that he saw no external physical injuries. (R. p. 62, line 22). He further testified that after taking the scalp back, he found a significant amount of blood overlying the left side of the head. (R. p. 65, lines 7-12). There was no external trauma at the site. (R. p. 65, line 12). It was a deep tissue injury but there was no grossly visible hemorrhage or damage to the external head with the naked eye. (R. p. 65, lines 13-16). Exhibit 27, a photograph of the victim's skull, was

introduced. (R. p. 66, lines 9-15). He further testified in order for the victim to have sustained her injuries, she would have been involved in a series of events. (R. p. 72, line 16). Typically, the retinal hemorrhages are associated with a shaking or acceleration or deceleration injury. (R. p. 72, lines 18-20). However, that shaking can never cause a skull fracture. (R. p. 72, lines 20-21). There also must be an impact. (R. p. 72, line 20). So presumably, there was both an impact with something soft enough not to cause external damage but to fracture the skull and enough shaking to cause significant retinal hemorrhages. (R. p. 72, lines 22-25). Dr. Fulcher testified that forensics pathologists can sometimes time injuries and give an approximate time when then injuries occurred, however, in this case, the survival window where the victim was alive in the ICU makes that very difficult for a forensic pathologist to do with any real certainty. (R. p. 74, lines 21-25). Dr. Fulcher could not testify to a time frame when the injuries might have occurred because while the victim was on life support, inflammation was still occurring in the brain and it is impossible to differentiate at a cellular level which inflammatory cells came from the original injury versus what occurred on the 21st day. (R. p. 75, lines 4-10).

III. DR. ERIC BERNING'S TESTIMONY

Dr. Eric Berning, a pediatric critical care physician (R. p. 214, lines 17-22), testified that when he treated the victim, she had no injuries that he could see on the outside of her body. (R. p. 219, lines 14-16). Dr. Berning conducted a CAT scan of the victim at 9:46 am which was completed at 10:04 am. (R. p. 228 line 21 – p. 229 line 3). Dr. Berning came to the same conclusion that Dr. Fulcher did with regards to the types of injuries sustained by the child. (R. p. 234, line 22 – p. 235, line 10). He further goes on to state that for the amount of brain swelling shown on the 10:04 pictures in the CAT scan, his best guess would have the fracture to have taken place at least eight to twelve hours prior to the scan. (R. p. 234, line 24 - p. 235, line 4; R. p. 239, lines 17-20). He

testified that a baby with these types of injuries would appear to the untrained eye as a sleeping baby, would be able to make sounds, move, and appear to respond to a voice. (R. p. 240, line 22 – p. 241, line 8).

IV. DR. ANTHONY JOHNSON'S TESTIMONY

Dr. Anthony Johnson is a pediatric ophthalmologist who has been practicing for 26 years. (R. p. 276, lines 13-15). Dr. Johnson examined the victim's eyes when she was in the Pediatric ICU. (R. p. 279, lines 2-5). Dr. Johnson observed extensive hemorrhaging in both of the victim's eyes. (R. p. 279, line 25 – p. 281, line 17). Dr. Johnson could not give a specific time frame for the retinal injury to have occurred, however, he was able to state that the injury would not have occurred a month ago or two weeks ago, but it could have been there a week ago, or four days ago, or just a few hours ago. (R. p. 293, lines 2-15). All of those were possibilities. (R. p. 293, line 15).

V. DR. EARL CHRISTOPHER TROUP'S TESTIMONY

The State called Dr. Troup who is a Pediatric Neurosurgeon at the Children's Hospital at Greenville Memorial Hospital. (R. p. 296, line 11, - p. 297, line 6). Dr. Troup had the occasion to examine the victim's CT exams during his treatment. (R. p. 300, lines 20-22). Dr. Troup offered an opinion as to when the retinal hemorrhage occurred. He opined that it occurred within a few hours to less than a few days. (R. p. 305, lines 5-8). However, Dr. Troup could not give a specific timeline as to when the victim's retinal hemorrhage actually occurred. (R. p. 302, lines 22-24). With regards to the victim's skull fracture, Dr. Troup testified that this injury would have occurred hours earlier because of the separation of the fracture. (R. p. 303, lines 11-21). Dr. Troup further goes on to testify about the tissue in the victim's brain, specifically that the victim's brain was horribly swollen and mostly dead brain. (R. p. 307, lines 5-7). He further testifies that for that amount of destruction to have happened to the brain, it had to have occurred much longer than just a three hour window.

(R. p. 307, lines 11-19). When asked if the child could have lived ten to twelve hours before they stopped breathing, Dr. Troup testified that the child could not still be alive with that degree of injury occurring twelve hours ago. (R. p. 307, line 21 – p. 308, line 1). He testifies that a child may live for hours after a destructive injury like this. (R. p. 308, lines 2-5).

VI. DARRON DAVIS' STATEMENT

The State introduced a redacted recorded statement of the Defendant that was played for the jury. (R. p. 208, lines 20-21). This statement was taken the day the victim was taken to the hospital by Sergeant Fortenberry and Lieutenant Pressley. (R. p. 188, lines 9-14). Lt. Pressley testified that the Defendant appeared to be willing to talk with him. (R. p. 206, line 25 – p. 207, line 3). The interview lasted from 12:15 pm to 2:53 pm. (R. p. 208, lines 5-6). Throughout his statement, Daron repeatedly says, "I don't know what happened." (R. pp. 393 – 459). He further goes on to corroborate Shalita's testimony stating that when Shalita and Daron were talking in the bedroom the night before, the victim moved or raised up when she heard a voice and went right back to sleep. (R. p. 414, p. 435).

He further states that he was out of the house from 7:00 am to about 7:20 am dropping Shalita's son at the bus stop and then heading to the store. (R. p. 435). After the officer continues to prod Daron into telling them what happened, Daron responds with "[n]othing happened on my clock." (R. p. 428). In fact, Daron says that the victim meant everything to him. (R. p. 428). He further testifies "I am telling you that I did nothing to contribute to what my daughter is dealing with right now." (R. p. 431). In fact, when the officers start to push him, he states, "[y]ou want me to give you information that I don't have." (R. p. 438). Daron had no reason to believe that the victim was hurt in any way. Throughout January 18th and 19th, she was acting normal, she cried and took her bottle, normal stuff. (R. p. 439, p. 440).

Following the evidence presented by the State, Daron moved for a directed verdict pursuant to Rule 19, SCRCrim.P based on failure of the State to present substantial circumstantial evidence which would warrant sending it to the jury. (R. p. 313, lines 12-14; p. 315, lines 7-9). The trial court denied this motion. (R. p. 318, lines 9-11). Daron presented no additional evidence. (R. p. 319, lines 19-20).

Prior to jury deliberations, Daron moved for mere presence to be charged to the jury. The judge denied this request. (R. p. 320, lines 4-10).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to grant the Defendant's directed verdict motion because the evidence submitted by the State did not rise to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence necessary to submit the case to the jury.

"In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, this court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, and if there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, we must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury." State v. Smith, 359 S.C. 481, 490, 597 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct.App.2004) (citing State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 70 (1998)) "In ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight." Id. (citing Kelsey, 331 S.C. at 62, 502 S.E.2d at 69). "If the State presents any evidence which reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt or from which his guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, the trial court must send the case to the jury." Id. (citing State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 97, 564 S.E.2d 362, 366 (Ct.App.2002)).

"The trial judge should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty." State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 102, 610 S.E.2d 859, 863 (Ct.App.2005) (citing State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E. 2d 529, 531 (2004). "Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." Id. (quoting State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). "However, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis." Id. at 102-03, 610 S.E.2d at 863. (quoting Cherry 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478). This court may reverse the trial court's denial of a motion

for a directed verdict only if there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling. Id. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 863 (citing State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92-93 (2002)).

A. Substantial Circumstantial Evidence

The South Carolina Supreme Court has issued two opinions clearly defining what is meant by "substantial circumstantial evidence" when reviewing the denial of a directed verdict motion. In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-777 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that where circumstantial evidence merely raises a "suspicion" that the accused is guilty, the State has failed to present "substantial circumstantial evidence." Further defining the term "substantial circumstantial evidence," the Supreme Court recently reiterated that circumstantial evidence is "substantial" when it "reasonably tend[s]" to prove the guilty of the accused. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 587, 720 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2011), citing State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 585 (2001). A description of the evidence presented by the State in Bostick and Odems is instructive in this case because it clearly demonstrates that the evidence presented by the State against Mr. Davis falls woefully short of the standard set forth by the Supreme Court for what constituted "substantial circumstantial evidence."

In Bostick, the State relied on four pieces of circumstantial evidence to acquire a conviction of the defendant on a charge of murder: (1) the victim's personal items were found in a burn pile in a nearby house that was owned by the defendant's mother, (2) a heavy petroleum product was used as an accelerant in the burn pile and the defendant's mother did not use such accelerants, (3) gasoline was used as an accelerant to start a fire in the victim's home after she was struck by her assailant and gasoline was found on the defendant's shoes, and (4) blood was found on the defendant's jeans and an expert testified that although she could not conclusively determine that the blood was that of the victim, there was a ninety-nine percent chance that is

was the victim's blood. The trial judge denied the defendant's motion for a directed verdict. Bostick, 329 S.C. 134, 138, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011). The South Carolina Supreme Court found that even when "[a]nalyzing the evidence presented by the State in the light most favorable to it, [. . .] the State's evidence . . . raised only a suspicion of guilt . . ." Id at 141. The Supreme Court reversed the defendant's conviction.

Similarly, in Odems, the State relied on four pieces of circumstantial evidence to acquire a conviction of the defendant on charges of robbery in the first degree, grand larceny, criminal conspiracy, and malicious injury: (1) the defendant was located in the getaway car shortly after the time of the robbery, (2) the items stolen from the victim's home were found in the getaway car, (3) the defendant fled from law enforcement when the car was pulled over, and (4) the defendant enlisted the assistance of an uninvolved individual in his attempt to evade arrest. Odems, 295 S.C. at 587-87. According to the Supreme Court, "[t]he circumstantial evidence presented by the State does not reasonably tend to prove Petitioner's guilt, and fails this Court's well-settled directive that circumstantial evidence that is not substantial enough is insufficient to go to a jury." Id. The Supreme Court reversed the defendant's conviction.

State v. Hepburn

In State v. Hepburn, a Supreme Court decision filed December 11, 2013 with facts much like the facts in the present case, the Court relies heavily on the two cases referred to above. State v. Hepburn, 2011-190695, 2013 WL 6492390 (S.C. Dec. 11, 2013). The Supreme Court concluded that there was not substantial evidence to prove that the Appellant killed the victim. The Court explains, "[e]very State witness placed Appellant asleep at the time the victim sustained the fatal injuries. While undoubtedly present at the scene, the only inference that can be drawn from the State's case is that one of the two co-defendants inflicted the victim's injuries,

but not that *Appellant* harmed the victim.” State v. Hepburn, 2011-190695, 2013 WL 6492390 (S.C. Dec. 11, 2013).

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