ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Greenville County
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213571

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DARON DUANE DAVIS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 22 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

I. The direct and circumstantial evidence amply supports the circuit court' denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in denying his directed verdict motion because the State's evidence "falls woefully short" of substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt, and "merely raises a suspicion that [he] harmed the [Child]." This assertion woefully understates the evidence.

When ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence rather than its weight, and must submit a case to the jury if there is any direct and/or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove the defendant's guilt, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402, 408-409 (2013). Likewise, when reviewing the denial of a directed verdict motion, the appellate court is only concerned with the existence of the evidence, and must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. If there is any direct and/or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove guilt, the appellate court must affirm the trial's court decision to submit the case to the jury. *Id.*; *see also* State v. Palmer, 408 S.C. 218, 758 S.E.2d 195, 198 (Ct. App. 2014).

The State's evidence, including Mother's testimony, Appellant's police interview and the medical evidence, with inferences therefrom, established the following:

1) Appellant and Mother were the only two people who could have injured Child (Mother's testimony and Appellant's Interview);

2) Appellant had exclusive control and dominion over Child from 2:15 p.m. on January 18th to 12:45 a.m. on January 19th (Mother's testimony and Appellant's Interview);

3) Mother had no direct interaction with Child between 12:45 a.m. on January 19th after she returned from work, and approximately 8:00 a.m. that morning when Appellant woke her up about Child's breathing (Mother's testimony);

4) Mother was only alone in the house with Child between 7:00 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. that morning, and she was asleep during that time (Mother's testimony and Appellant's Interview);

5) medical evidence indicated Child's skull was fractured ten to twelve hours, and definitely more than three hours, prior to the CAT scans taken around 10:00 a.m. on January 19th (doctors' testimony);

6) Appellant told police he gave Child a bottle at 6:30 that morning, but medical evidence indicated she would not have been able to eat by that time given the extent of her injury (Appellant's Interview and doctors' testimony);

7) Appellant also told police he got Child out of the bassinet between 7:30 and 8:00 that morning and laid on the bed with her on his chest, and she was "fine," but medical evidence indicated she would have been "profoundly impaired" and "not normal" by that time (Appellant's Interview and doctors' testimony);

8) Child's head injury was caused by an impact with significant force (doctors' testimony);

9) Child's retinal hemorrhages were caused by shaking, which was a separate act from the blow that fractured her skull (doctors' testimony);

10) Appellant told police Mother did not injure Child in his presence (Appellant's Interview);

11) Appellant was upset because Mother only called him once while she was at work on January 18th, and she was late getting home on January 19th (Mother's testimony);

12) Appellant was concerned about the status of his relationship with Mother (Mother's testimony);

13) Appellant was frustrated because he thought Mother could do more to help with the children (Appellant's Interview); and

14) Mother was extremely distraught at the doctor's office and the hospital, but Appellant was completely unemotional at the hospital while personnel were working on Child, as well as when the doctor told him and Mother that Child would not survive, even when Child's grandmother starting yelling at him and asking what he did to Child (police officer testimony and doctors' testimony).

When considered in the light most favorable to the State, this evidence raises much more than a mere suspicion Appellant inflicted Child's injuries. Even though both Appellant and Mother were in the house from 12:45 a.m. until they took Child to the doctor's office around 8:30 a.m., Appellant's own statement to police corroborated Mother's testimony she did not interact with Child while Appellant was present during that time. Mother was alone with Child for at most a thirty minute period, during which she was asleep and the medical evidence indicated was well **after** Child was injured.

Appellant's reliance on Hepburn is misplaced. In Hepburn, the victim's mother and the mother's boyfriend were tried jointly and convicted of homicide by child abuse. The Supreme Court reversed the mother's conviction, finding all the evidence and

inferences from the State's case indicated the mother was asleep when the victim sustained the fatal injuries, she only woke up after the boyfriend got the unresponsive victim out of the crib, and the victim was acting normally when the mother put her to sleep and went to sleep herself. The medical evidence established the victim would not have appeared normal within a short period of time after the extensive injuries were inflicted. While the mother was clearly present at the scene (in the house), the Court found the only inference from the State's evidence was that one of the co-defendants inflicted the injuries, but not that the mother inflicted them, and the circuit court erred in denying her directed verdict motion. 753 S.E.2d at 415-416.

Initially, Hepburn is distinguishable because there is only one defendant in this case, rather than two co-defendants charged with the inflicting the same injuries. Mother was never charged, she testified for the State, and much of her testimony was corroborated by Appellant's statements to police and the medical evidence.

Further, and more significant, the evidence regarding Mother's involvement in this case is similar to the evidence in Hepburn, which the Supreme Court found was insufficient to establish the mother's guilt. As in Hepburn, the State's evidence indicated Mother was either absent or asleep when Child sustained her fatal injuries; Child was unharmed when Mother left for work on January 18th; when Mother got home from work, there was nothing in Child's outward appearance that would indicate Child was injured; the first time Mother knew anything was wrong was when Appellant woke her up the morning of January 19th; and Mother immediately called the doctor's office and got Child to the doctor soon thereafter.

Likewise, Appellant's reliance on State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), and State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011), is misplaced. There is

one unavoidable, and critical, distinction between those cases and this case. In both Bostick and Odems, there was no evidence actually connecting the defendants with the crime scene when the crime was committed. Bostick, 708 S.E.2d at 778 (no evidence linked defendant to crime scene); Odems, 720 S.E.2d at 52 (no evidence defendant was at the crime scene). In this case, however, there is **direct** evidence, including Appellant's own statement, putting him with Child during the time the medical evidence indicated Child was injured. Thus, the circumstantial evidence analysis in Bostick and Odems does not apply.

There was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could reasonably find Appellant inflicted the injuries that caused Child's death. Therefore, the circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury.

II. The evidence did not support Appellant's request for a mere presence jury charge.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for a mere presence jury charge because both he and Mother were with Child during the nine and a half hours between the time Mother got home from work and the time the CAT scans were taken, and there were multiple scenarios the jury could have considered which justified a mere presence charge. In support of this contention, Appellant submits an extremely truncated, and simplistic, rendition of the evidence, while ignoring significant portions of his own statement to police regarding the events of January 18th and 19th as viewed in light of the undisputed medical evidence.

The evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged in a case. State v. Manning, 2014 WL 1805319, *5 (S.C. Ct App. 2014). A mere presence charge is warranted only if the evidence supports it. State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000); State v. Dennis, 321 S.C. 413, 468 S.E.2d 674, 678 (Ct. App. 1996). The mere presence charge is generally appropriate under two circumstances: 1) if there is doubt regarding whether the defendant is guilty as an accomplice to a crime; and 2) the defendant is charged with constructive possession of contraband as a result of being present where contraband was found. Stokes, 528 S.E. 2d at 434-435 (*citing Dennis*). This case does not involve possession of contraband, so a mere presence charge would only be warranted if the State alleged Appellant was guilty under an accomplice theory.

According to Mother's testimony, which was corroborated by Appellant's own statement to police on January 19th, other than hearing Child make a "baby sound" when Mother and Appellant walked into the bedroom after Mother got home from work, Mother did not have any interaction with Child until Appellant woke her up the next

morning expressing concern about Child's breathing. Appellant repeatedly stated to police he never saw Mother harm Child, but if anything happened, it had to happen when he was not present between 7:00 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. (TT, pp. 216-224, State's Exhibit 34, pp. 32-44, 62; R., pp. 141-149, 424-436, 454). As discussed above, however, the medical evidence indicated the injuries were inflicted prior to that thirty minute period of time.

Appellant also told police he got Child up around 6:30 a.m. on January 19th, and gave her a bottle before he took the son to the bus stop. After he returned and took a shower, he purportedly got Child out of her bassinet and laid down on the bed with her on his chest, but did not notice anything out of the ordinary. (State's Exhibit 34, pp. 48, 52, 60-61; R., pp. 440, 444, 452-453). According to the medical evidence, however, it would have been physically impossible for Child to eat by that time, and she would have been noticeably in distress. (TT, pp. 339-340, 352, 417-420; R., pp. 239-240, 244).

As in Stokes, the State did not attempt to convict Appellant on any theory of accomplice liability in this case. Rather, the State contended Appellant, and only Appellant, inflicted Child's injuries while she was exclusively under his dominion and control before Mother got home from work at 12:35 a.m. on January 19th. The State did not seek a conviction on an aiding and abetting, or "hand of one is the hand of all" basis, and the jury was not charged on either theory. The State did not even contend Appellant allowed Mother to inflict Child's injuries by failing to intervene. Rather, based on the evidence presented, if the jury found Mother inflicted the injuries rather than Appellant, it had no choice but to acquit Appellant.

In denying Appellant's request for a mere presence charge, the circuit court noted there was no allegation or evidence Appellant and Mother acted together, "[s]o either [Appellant] did it separately or someone else did it separately." (TT, p. 439; R., p. 320).

In the absence of any contention or evidence indicating Appellant was guilty in any capacity other than a principal, the circuit court properly refused to give a mere presence charge.

III. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting photographs of Child in the hospital bed, and an autopsy photograph of Child's head injury.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in admitting photographs of Child in a hospital bed, and an autopsy photograph of Child's head injury. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the photographs were directly relevant to issues in the case, and were not unduly prejudicial.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is an action within the trial court's sound discretion, and the trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Salley, 398 S.C. 160, 727 S.E.2d 740, 744 (2012). The trial court should exclude a photograph if it is calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury, or is irrelevant or unnecessary to substantiate facts, but there is no abuse of discretion if the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony. *Id.* at 745; *see also State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010) (same). The trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances, and the trial court is not required to exclude relevant evidence merely because it is unpleasant or offensive. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008).

As discussed above, the State's theory of the case was Appellant injured Child sometime between 2:30 p.m. on January 18th and 12:45 a.m. on January 19th, while Mother was at work. Given the extent of Child's head injury, the hospital photographs were necessary to show the jury there were no external injuries to Child's head that Mother would have seen when she arrived home from work, and therefore, she would not have been alerted to a problem even if she visually checked on Child at that time. (TT, pp. 33-37, State's Exhibits 28 and 29; R., 9-13). While medical personnel did testify

Child had no visible external injuries, the photographs showed what a lay person, such as Mother, would have seen rather than a trained medical professional.

The hospital photographs were relevant in this case for the same reason a picture of the child victim in Salley was admissible. In Salley, the defendant objected to a professional photograph of the victim when she was alive and well, arguing it was irrelevant to proving guilt. The Supreme Court affirmed admission of the photograph, finding it substantiated the pathologist's testimony the victim, who had an undiagnosed sickle cell trait, was otherwise healthy and vibrant. 727 S.E.2d at 745. Likewise, the hospital photographs at issue in the instant case corroborated the testimony of Mother, the pathologist and other medical personnel, regarding the absence of any visible external injury to Child's head.

The one autopsy photograph at issue was also directly relevant. In Torres, the Supreme Court specifically held "autopsy photographs may be presented to the jury in an effort to show the circumstances of the crime and character of the defendant." 703 S.E.2d at 229. The Court explained:

The doctor who performed the autopsy used the introduced photographs during his testimony to illustrate the number of injuries, location of the injuries, and manner in which the injuries were committed. We do not suggest that these autopsy photographs are mild and easy to view: some of the photographs are close-ups of the victims' injuries and are graphic in nature. However, the purpose of the close-ups was to help identify the nature of each particular injury. The net effect of the photographs was to show what Torres did to the Emervs, which goes straight to circumstances of the crime.

Id. (emphasis added).

The autopsy photograph in this case substantiated the pathologist's testimony and other medical testimony regarding the extent of Child's skull fracture and resulting hemorrhages, and gave the jury some point of reference as

to the degree of force and level of physical ability necessary to inflict the extensive injury, which went directly to the issue of Appellant's guilt. While the photograph was undoubtedly distressing for family members sitting in the courtroom, Appellant's counsel conceded it was the least inflammatory of the available autopsy photographs. (TT, pp. 27-32, 136-145, 342-343, State's Exhibit 27; R., pp. 3-8, 65-74, 242-243).

The mere fact someone in the courtroom became emotional when the State introduced the photograph is not a basis for excluding it. The issue is not whether the evidence will provoke an emotional response, it is whether it is calculated to provoke a verdict on an improper basis. The photographs at issue in this case were not unduly graphic, and they corroborated witness testimony. Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by admitting them.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent submits Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.